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DECISION


The Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) has cause to discipline Jonathan J. Jennings for his pleas of guilty to, and the conduct underlying, the federal offenses of wire fraud and money laundering.  The MREC has no cause to discipline under § 339.100.2(19).
 

Procedure


The MREC filed a complaint to discipline Jennings’ broker associate licenses.  On December 20, 2006, Jennings was personally served with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and our order of November 29, 2006, setting the hearing for April 24, 2007.  Jennings did not respond to the complaint.  On March 9, 2007, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination.  We gave Jennings until March 26, 2007, to respond to the motion for summary determination, but he did not respond.  
Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B)3 provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party raises a genuine issue as to such facts.  The MREC has submitted its licensure affidavit and certified court records of the criminal proceedings against Jennings, including his guilty pleas.  For the purpose of a civil proceeding, a guilty plea is “a declaration against interest to be considered by the [trier of fact] as other declarations against interest.”  Nichols v. Blake, 
418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  We find nothing in Jennings' declarations against interest that leads us to doubt their credibility.  Since Jennings offered no evidence or testimony in our proceeding, his guilty pleas stand without any contrary or qualifying evidence.  Therefore, we determine that the following facts are undisputed.
Findings of Fact


1.
On May 14, 2001, the MREC converted Jennings’ real estate salesperson license to an individual broker license.  On July 11, 2002, the MREC converted the individual broker license to a broker associate license for Jonathan Jennings Realty, LLC.  Jennings' broker associate license expired on June 30, 2006.

2.
On July 20, 2004, the MREC licensed Jennings as a broker associate for Primo Realty LLC.  This license has been current and active since it was issued.

3.
Between about May 23, 2001, and August 30, 2002, Jennings, together with Nathan Brinkle and Adam Kerr, engaged in the following scheme:
a.
Purchased distressed residential properties in the Kansas City, Missouri, area, rehabilitated them, then solicited and induced individuals to purchase the properties and to obtain loans in connection therewith.
b.
Assisted purchaser-investors to obtain financing for the properties.
c.
Told potential purchasers that they would pay no down payments for the properties, that revenues would be sufficient to cover expenses, and that Section 8 tenants would inhabit the homes at the time of the purchase.
d.
Caused inflated appraisals to be prepared, or were aware that such inflated appraisals had been prepared, in relation to the properties.
e.
Prepared and caused to be prepared loan applications and supporting documentation for submission to lending institutions for the purchasers, making material false and fraudulent representations and omissions of fact therein, including that the borrowers made down payments and in some instances that the purchases were refinances.
f.
Caused lending institutions to approve said loan applications in reliance on the material false and fraudulent representations and omissions of fact and to wire loan proceeds in interstate commerce from other locations into the state of Kansas, which were on occasion further wire transferred into the state of Missouri.
g.
Obtained personal benefit from the proceeds of the loans and from fees and commissions resulting therefrom.
h.
Caused to be submitted to lending institutions a total of 94 false and fraudulent loan applications and supporting documentation in the names of the purchaser-investors, which contained material false and fraudulent representations and omissions of fact, in particular that the purchaser-investors made down payments and installment payments in the approximate total amount of $2,582,551.
i.
Caused lending institutions, in reliance on false and fraudulent representations and omissions described above, to approve and make loans in the approximate total amount of $6,388,150, sending the funds by wire transfer in interstate commerce.
j.
In furtherance of and for the purpose of executing the scheme, on June 22, 2001, in Kansas City, Missouri, and elsewhere, knowingly and willfully caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate commerce, between Leawood, Kansas, and Kansas City, Missouri, funds, writings, signs, and signals for the purpose of executing such scheme, that is, the wire transfer on or about June 22, 2001, of $14,421.18 from Gold Bank, Leawood, Kansas, to Commerce Bank, Kansas City, Missouri, for deposit into the account of Brinkle, which funds were proceeds from closing on the sale and purchase of the property located at 5218 College, Kansas City, Missouri.

4.
On October 16, 2001, Brinkle, Kerr, and Jennings knowingly engaged in, and caused to be engaged in, a monetary transaction affecting interstate commerce, in “criminally derived property” of a value greater than $10,000, that is, the deposit of check number 1198 dated October 18, 2001, in the amount of $14,318.42 payable to Platinum Mortgage, owned and operated by Kerr, into the account of Platinum Financial Missouri LLC at US Bank, Kansas City, Missouri, which check was drawn on the account of Brinkle and Jennings at Commerce Bank, Kansas City, Missouri, which funds had been received by them from Equitable Title Co., Overland Park, Kansas, as the proceeds of a loan relating to the sale and purchase of 3119 Wayne, Kansas City, Missouri, such property having been derived from a wire fraud scheme set forth in Finding of Fact 3.  
5.
On June 2, 2005, Jennings was charged in the United States District Court of the Western District of Missouri with violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (“wire fraud”) and 18 U.S.C. §§ 1957 and 2 (“money laundering”).  
6.
On June 2, 2005, Jennings pled guilty to wire fraud and money laundering.
7.
On April 19, 2006, the United States District Court, Western District of Missouri, found Jennings guilty upon his pleas of guilty to one count of wire fraud and one count of money laundering.  The court placed Jennings on probation for three years on each count, to run concurrently with each other.  The court ordered Jennings to pay a $200 assessment and restitution of $2,009,425.95.  
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the MREC’s complaint.
  We have jurisdiction to adjudicate a complaint not only against someone with an active and current license, but also against someone who has not renewed his or her license.
  Jennings has both an active and current associate broker license and one that he has not renewed.  


The MREC has the burden of proving that Jennings has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  
I.  Grounds to Refuse to Issue License


Section 339.100.2(16) allows discipline for any licensee:

[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the [MREC] to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]

Section 339.040 provides:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present . . . satisfactory proof to the [MREC] that they:

(1) Are persons of good moral character; and

(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.
The MREC asserts that the conduct that served as the basis for Jennings' plea of guilty to wire fraud disqualifies him for licensure under all three criteria set forth under § 339.040.1.

A.  Good Moral Character


Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  We determine moral character from the person’s conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”
  Jennings engaged with others in an elaborate and well-thought-out scheme of deception and lies to cheat people and companies out of money so that Jennings and his accomplices could benefit monetarily.  We find that Jennings’ actions demonstrate that he is not a person of good moral character.  
B.  Reputation


Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[.]”
  Reputation is a “consensus view of many people[.]”
  The MREC presented no evidence of Jennings’ reputation. 

C.  Competency


Competency, when referring to occupation, is the “the actual ability of a person to perform 
in that occupation.”
  It also refers to the “disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability.”
  

Section 339.010 sets forth what a broker does:


1.  A "real estate broker" is any person . . . who, for another, and for a compensation or valuable consideration, does, or attempts to do, any or all of the following:

(1) Sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases real estate;

(2) Offers to sell, exchange, purchase, rent or lease real estate;

(3) Negotiates or offers or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of real estate;

(4) Lists or offers or agrees to list real estate for sale, lease, rental or exchange;

(5) Buys, sells, offers to buy or sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or improvements thereon;

(6) Advertises or holds himself or herself out as a licensed real estate broker while engaged in the business of buying, selling, exchanging, renting, or leasing real estate;

(7) Assists or directs in the procuring of prospects, calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;

(8) Assists or directs in the negotiation of any transaction calculated or intended to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;

(9) Engages in the business of charging to an unlicensed person an advance fee in connection with any contract whereby the real estate broker undertakes to promote the sale of that person's real estate through its listing in a publication issued for such purpose intended to be circulated to the general public;

(10) Performs any of the foregoing acts as an employee of, or on behalf of, the owner of real estate, or interest therein, or improvements affixed thereon, for compensation.
In particular, we note that a real estate broker regularly accepts money to be held in escrow under § 339.105.  An inherent part of performing these actions competently and in a manner that safeguards the interest of the public is being able or willing to perform them in a trustworthy manner.  The conduct to which Jennings pled guilty on the wire fraud count shows that he is not competent to perform real estate transactions in a trustworthy manner.  

There is cause to discipline Jennings under § 339.100.2(16) because his conduct would serve as grounds to refuse to issue him a license as set forth in § 339.040.1(1) and (3).
II.  Guilty Pleas

Section 339.100.2(18) allows discipline for licensees who have:

entered a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws . . . of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

A.  Qualifications, Functions, or Duties of a Broker


As previously discussed, Jennings' offenses are related to his functions or duties as a real estate broker.  Each of these functions involves handling the property, business, and financial interests of others.  In particular, we note that a real estate broker regularly accepts money to be held in escrow under § 339.105.  The crimes of wire fraud and money laundering are reasonably related to the functions or duties of a real estate broker.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).
B.  Fraud, Dishonesty, and Moral Turpitude


The MREC argues that Jennings pled guilty to offenses an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty and to offenses involving moral turpitude.


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 

(Mo. banc 1929)).

Title 18 U.S.C. § 2 provides:

(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a principal.
(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly performed by him or another would be an offense against the United States, is punishable as a principal.
Title 18 U.S.C. § 1343 provides:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

Title 18 U.S.C. § 1957 sets forth the elements of money laundering:

(a) Whoever, in any of the circumstances set forth in subsection (d), knowingly engages or attempts to engage in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000 and is derived from specified unlawful activity, shall be punished as provided in subsection (b).
*   *   *

(d) The circumstances referred to in subsection (a) are--

(1) that the offense under this section takes place in the United States or in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States; 
*   *   *

(f) As used in this section--
(1) the term “monetary transaction” means the deposit, withdrawal, transfer, or exchange, in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, of funds or a monetary instrument (as defined in section 1956(c)(5) of this title) by, through, or to a financial institution (as defined in section 1956 of this title), including any transaction that would be a financial transaction under section 1956(c)(4)(B) of this title, but such term does not include any transaction necessary to preserve a person’s right to representation as guaranteed by the sixth amendment to the Constitution;
(2) the term “criminally derived property” means any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained from a criminal offense[.]
The crimes of wire fraud and money laundering involve moral turpitude.  Each is also a crime essential elements of which are fraud and dishonesty.  There is cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(18).
III.  Any Other Conduct


The MREC argues that Jennings is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(19) for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings or 
demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]”
  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (19) refers to conduct different from that referred to in the remaining subdivisions of § 339.100.2.  We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(16) and (18).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(19).
Summary

We find cause to discipline Jennings under § 339.100.2(16) and (18).

SO ORDERED on April 4, 2007.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP  


Commissioner
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